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This case had its germnation in a conpliance review On
Cctober 18, 1991, two Federal H ghway Adm nistration (FHwA)
I nvestigators, George Cowan and Susan Drabant, inspected certain NRT
records at Respondent's offices in North Bergen, NJ., to assess its
conpliance wth the Federal Mdtor Carrier Safety Regul ations
(FMCSRs). In 1990 NRT owned 137 trucks and utilized 138 drivers,
grossing $42 mllion (Cx-7). Finding that Respondent in nmany cases
| acked supporting docunents for drivers' |ogs, the investigators
filed a report recomrending enforcenent (CX-7; Tr. 58, 98). This
action' followed, in which the Assistant Regional Counsel, Federal
H ghway Admi nistration (O ainmant or Regional Drector), has charged
Respondent National Retail Transportation, Inc. (NRT), a notor
carrier subsidiary of National Retail Systens, Inc., with forty-six
viol ations of the FMCSRs, 49 Cc F.R Part 350 et seq., and seeks a
civil penalty of $23,000. Y Respondent denied the charges. . A
hearing was held, fromwhich | find the violations as charged and

assess a civil penalty in the amount of $9,200.

Y The FMCSRs are issued under the authority of 49 U.S.C. 3102 of the Motor Carrier Safety Act of 1984 (the Act),
P.L. 98-554, 98 Stat. 2829.
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PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Regional Director initiated this proceeding by filing a
Notice of Claim (the Notice) under 49 C F. R §386.11(b)on January
21, 1992.  The Notice cited the Respondent for failing to preserve
supporting docunents for certain driver records of duty status
(driver logs) for six months (Id.; CcX-17 through -62). The

regulation, in pertinent part, states:

( %? Driver’s records of duty status for each calendar month .

| be forwarded to the carrier's pr|n0|pal place of business
where they shal be retained with all supporting documents for
a period of 6 months from date of receipt. (emphasis supplied)

Each proven failure constitutes a violation of 49 C.F.R.
§395.8(k) and is subject to a civil penalty of $500 per day, up to a
maxi mum of $2,500 for any single offense. 49 U.S.C.§521(b)(2).

A ai mant seeks a penalty of $500 for each of the alleged forty-six

violations, or a total fine of $23,000.

DI SCUSSI ON

I n conducting their conpliance review investigators Cowan and
Drabant initially saw NRT's safety consultant, Vincent Mariano, its
general counsel, Marc Zol dessy, and its dispatcher, Richard Sullivan
(Tr. 24-26, 42, 105; cx-7); they later met with its safety director
Wlliamduver (Tr. 43). The investigators sought certain exanples
of records NRT is required to maintain under the FMCSRs (Tr. 16, 24-
26; CX-8). In response, NRT produced driver |ogs, drug-testing

records, and other files (Tr. 25, 45-46; CX-8), but did not present

2 . . . . . -
2/ CX-A. The penalty sought by the Regional Director is erroneously stated in the Notice of Claim. The correct
figure is $23,000. Tr. 177.
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docunents (highlighted in the discussion that follows) that would
have tended to support information stated on the drivers' |ogs, such

as records relating to a driver's pay (Tr. 25-26, 95-96, 139, 171).

A Cowan and Drabant spotted a di spatcher-conpl eted outbound
di spatch log -- a record of routes to be undertaken, vehicles
utilized, noney advanced, and anticipated backhaul -- on dispatcher
Sullivan's desk, but could not obtain one, despite their entreaties.
They were instead given a blank copy of the form NRT used, which was
entered into evidence as CX-2 (Tr. 27-28, 52, 69-71, 98; 269). The
follow ng January, however, NRT did deliver dispatch logs
corresponding to the 46 transactions in response to a subpoena. The
C aimant's charges do not enconpass outbound dispatch logs (Tr. 70-
71, 87, 91, 98, 143; see R 2).

B. Sullivan told the investigators that drivers are required
toprepare and submt upon return a driver's trip report, or DIR
whi ch indicates the driver's origin and destination, his pick-up and
delivery points, the routes he took and the mleage involved. To
the DIR he attaches toll and fuel receipts and the like, and then
submits it all to a payroll clerk for payment purposes. A blank DIR

was given to the investigators and entered into evidence as CX-3
(Tr. 32-33, 264).

C. The trip summary, sonmewhat |ike the DIR asks for m | eage
bet ween stops, expenses and advances, and fuel and'oil charges. It
Is also a docunent upon which drivers' pay is based, drivers being

paid by the mle. The dispatcher enters the information and,
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forwards it to payroll (Tr. 251, 254). Investigators Cowan and

Drabant were given a blank copy of the trip summary, which becane
CX-4 (Tr. 34-35, 37).

DD CX-5is a blank trip summary report, or trip envelope. The
driver places all his documents into a trip envel ope and submts it
at the end of his trip. The envel ope asks for trip mleage, al
origins and destinations, road expenses, and advances. It also
contains a separate section for fuel purchases. The trip envel ope

Is given to payroll upon return (Tr. 38-40, 210, 266, 268).

E. Sullivan informed the investigators -- in response to a
specific query -- that drivers also submt a delivery nanifest
following each trip. The manifest recaps the trip: stops, arrival
and departure tine at each, shipper's nane, el apsed mles per stop,
and aggregate delivery time and nmiles. A blank copy of Respondent's
delivery manifest was submtted for the record as Cx-6. ¥

Cowan and Drabant had attenpted to obtain conpleted DTRs, trip
sumaries, trip sumary reports and delivery nmanifests (i.e., CX-3,
-4, -5 and -6 respectively; see Tr. 141-42) (Tr. 98), but were told
by both general counsel Zoldessy and conpany Vice-President GCeorge
LaFitte either that NRT did not retain themor that they were
unavail able (Tr. 34, 43-45 84, 93, 95-96, 98-99, 103-04, 106-09
141, 168).

LaFitte expl ained that any conpleted forms were kept only until

3 - - - - - - - - n
3/ Tr. 38-41, 104, 108. The manifest"s title indicates generation by "National Retail Trucking, I nc.

Respondent”s in-house counsel represented that National Retail Trucking is an affiliated entity of Respondent.
Tr. 285-86.
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5
he drivers were paid -- about two weeks later -- and were then

iscarded (Tr. 44, 262-63). \Wen Cowan asked for NRT docunents
ertaining to the nost recent two weeks, wLaFitte produced one trip
nvel ope (Tr. 44, 168). The carrier's size indicated that several
undred should have been turned in, even for that relatively short
veriod (Tr. 44). Cowan |ater questioned safety director Cuver
about the carrier's retention, policy, but again was told that
nothing was retained (Tr. 45).
On January 14 or 15, 1992, in response to Oaimant's Decenber

10, 1991, subpoena, NRT did deliver sonme docunents to the
government, producing bills of |ading, dispatch |Iogs, and docunents

it described as "conputerized trip file summaries." ¢

FI NDI NGS AND CONCLUSI ONS

| conclude that Respondent National Retail Transportation,

Inc., violated §395.8(k) of the FMCSRs in forty-six instances by
failing to preserve supporting docunents for driver logs for the
requi site six-nonth period on forty-six occasions.

As a threshold matter, | wll deal with the nmeaning of the term
"supporting docunents.” It is nowhere defined or described in the
FMCSRs. NRT argues that, as such,, it is being held to a form ess.
standard, thus depriving it of fair warning of the kind of conduct
the regulation requires or prohibits. This lack of notice anounts

to a violation of due process of law, it states; NRT cannot be held

¥ R-2; Tr. 85-92, 144-45. NRT had also produced bills of lading at the time of the compliance review the
previous October. Claimant's investigators asserted, however, that such documents contain little or no
information tending to support the accuracy of driver logs, and so did not consider them to be supporting
documents. Tr. 84-86, 88-89, 143; see R-2.
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to have transgressed a provision whose nmeaning and paraneters are

unknown.  As a corollary, Respondent asserts that the term cannot be

defined by prosecutorial whim O ainmant asserts that "supporting

documents" is adequately defined.

On this record | find that the phrase is sufficiently clear and

informative to apprise regulated entities of the behavior expected
of them The rule speaks in terns of retaining "supporting
documents" for driver records of duty status (see p. 2). The
context makes it plain that the quoted phrase contenpl ates al
docunents reasonably tending to support the information found in
driver logs (see Tr. 147). Since the rule nowhere conpels carriers
to create supporting docunents (see Tr. 119), carriers need retain
such docunents only if they already deal with them-- that is, if in
the ordinary course of business, such docunents pass through their
hands (see Tr. 111-13).

The "supporting-documents" rule is a rule of reason that, by
its nature, nust be interpreted on a case-by-case basis (see Tr.
30). But it does not follow that the rule thus |acks paraneters
adequate to warn regul ated entities of conduct required. | find
that the rule is sufficiently clear to pass due-process nuster. ¥

| have found that Respondent handl ed conpleted DTRs, trip

summaries, trip summary reports and delivery nanifests. These

¥ Respondent argues that because it did not use the documents to verify driver logs, it cannot be held in
violation of §395.8(k). Tr. 210: Resp. Br., p. 9. However, the use to which the regulated entity put the
documents is not dispositive of the question of their status as supporting documents. The purpose of the rule is
to determine, by enabling FHwA investigators to cross-check the accuracy of log entries, whether drivers are
complying with hours-of-service regulations. See Tr. 12, 121. Thus the critical inquiry is whether the

documents themselves reasonably tend to verify driver-log entries, not whether Respondent used those documents
for that purpose.
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ments were issued by or transmtted to NRT in the ordinary

rse of business and passed through its hands. They contai ned

>rmation tending to substantiate the information contained in

ver logs. NRT officials failed or refused to turn these

aments over to agency investigators (see pp. 3-5). The evidence
: arther shows that NRT failed to retain these docunents for six
months in connection with 46 trips made in interstate commerce (CX-
17 through -62). These circunstances inpel ne to conclude that
Respondent violated §395.8(k) on the forty-six occasions cited.

Respondent, however, also naintains that it preserved

supporting docunents on its conputer system as 49 CF. R §390.31
allows, and in doing do, has in fact conplied with the FMCSRs (Resp.
Br., p. 10). This contention does not avail Respondent for two
reasons. In the first place, although the scope of their request
was broad -- enconpassing "any and all docunents related to payrol
and all the docunents . . . that the drivers prepared and the
carrier prepares or requires their enployees to prepare . . ."
(enphasis supplied) -- the investigators were never offered or shown

any conputer-generated or -stored docunents. ¢ Further, section

390.13(b) requires conputer records to contain all information set
out in the originals, and NRT's conputer records -- according to
Respondent's own witnesses -- do not contain all the information

that appears on the hard copies. Respondent's practice was to pul

& Tr. 139. Respondent contends that the investigators' failure to inquire specifically whether supporting data

was stored in computers sinks Claimant"s case (Resp. Br., Pp. 10-11),but it places responsibility on the wrong

actors. NRT officials should have understood Cowan and Drabant's broad request to include all manner of document
generation or storage. To put the investigators to a guessing game in these circumstances, as Respondent would,

is little short of ludicrous.
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only certain data fromthe supporting docunents for use in its
database. For instance, it did not enter individual toll receipts,
fuel receipts, and tinmes and dates from Respondent's trip envel opes
(CX-5; Tr. 268-69, 274-75). NRT also failed to show that it had
entered any information contained in the driver's trip report (CX-
3), stating that both copies of the DIR were sent to a third party
in order to conpute road and fuel taxes incurred (Tr. 205-06, 264-
65). Respondent in any event failed to produce any computer-
generated docunents for the record. ¥

The "conputerized trip file summaries” NRT submtted in
response to the governnment's subpoena coul d not be considered
supporting documents. As investigator Cowan pointed out, the
sumaries were inconplete and their origin uncertain. There was no
way to know where the information contained in them cane from In
short, their validity as |og-supporting docunents was dubi ous and

unproven (Tr. 97, 100, 137, 145).

PENALTY

The Notice of Caimseeks an assessment of $500 for each of the
forty-six violations, for a total civil penalty of $23,000 (CX-A
see also p. 1, n. 1). The operative statute, 49 US.C
§521(b)(2)(C), states that the determnation of civil penalty shal

take into account:

I In these circumstances, | need not determine whether a carrier that enters supporting documents into a computer
and stores them for six months, destroying the hard copies, has complied with §395.8(k). See Tr. 133-34, 166.

In light of modern technology and business practice, nonetheless, it might be worthwhile for the agency to
determine in advance of an enforcement proceeding whether and how it would find compliance in these

circumstances.  See Tr. 134.
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public safety may require.
It also states that the assessment "shall be calculated to induce
further conpliance."

The agency stated in its Notice of Claimthat its determ nation
of penalty was based on "the seriousness of your violations, your
past history, your financial status, and other factors" (CX-A, p.
1). Fred Guin, FHwA Federal Program Manager who is responsible for
the region's enforcenment program and who set the proposed -
assessnment, described it as the "maxi num penalty" & and expl ai ned
that it was set in |ight of two previous auditsof the carrier, one
in 1981 and the other in 1987, and on agency guidelines (Tr. 179-
80; CX-10 and CX-11).

The 1981 audit recommended that the carrier "maintain adequate
records to nmonitor drivers logs for accuracy" (CX-10, p. 2); the
1987 safety review suggested continued monitoring of driver hours of
service (CX-11, p. 4). Nopenalties were assessed as aresult of
either of these audits (Tr. 192-93). Nor was the carrier cited for
violations of §395.8(k) either time (Tr. 151-53, 185-86). Further
in response to a question on the rwaform "Doesthe carrier have a
systemto effectively control the drivers' hours of service?", the
1987 investigators checked the box marked "vYes" (See CX-11, p. 4).

In the judgnent of FHwA, then, the carrier generally hewed to the

¥ Wwhile the maximum civil penalty per offense is $500, each day of a violation is considered a separate offense,
except that the total civil penalty per violation cannot exceed $2,500. 49 U.S.C. 521(b)(2). In this case,
then, the maximum allowable penalty may be $2,500 per violation. ,
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regulatory line in each instance, at least in the area of driver
| ogs and hours of service.
These, considerations warrant an assessment |esser than that
suggested by the Regional Director. \Wiile NRT’s violations were
continuing and hampered the agency in carrying out its safety
responsibilities, past audits showed that it had generally conplied
with agency directives. Additionally, in light of the fact that
Respondent has begun to save toll receipts (Tr. 257-59), | wll
exercise ny discretion to |lower the suggested penalty in order to
provi de an incentive to further conpliance. ¥
| find and conclude that a civil penalty of $9,200, or $200 per

violation, fairly accounts for the mx of factors the statute and

agency policy considers in determning an appropriate fine. |
further find and conclude that it will encourage future conpliance
as well, by this carrier and others.

National Retail Transportation, Inc. is hereby ordered to pay a
civil penalty in the anount of $9,200 for violating Federal Mot or
Carrier Safety Regulation 49 CF.R §395.8(k) in forty-six

I nstances3

o778, kb

Burton S. Kol ko
Adm ni strative Law Judge

¥see In the Matter of Drotzmann, Inc., Docket No. R10-89-11,Final Order of the Associate Administrator dated
June 20, 1990

1 1is decision is issued pursuant to 49 C.F.R. §386.61. This decision becomes the final decision of the
Associate Administrator 45 days after it is served unless a petition or motion for review is filed under 49
C.F.R. §386.62.
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